A SUMMARY OF THE THIRD SESSION OF THE AD HOC GROUP ON THE BERLIN MANDATE OF THE UNFCCC

‘ Negonations Bulletin

A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Vol. 12 No. 27 Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (11SD)

Monday,11 March 1996

REPORT OF THE THIRD SESSION OF
THE AD HOC GROUP ON THE BERLIN
MANDATE: 5-8 MARCH 1996

The third session of thied HocGroup on the Berlin Mandate
(AGBM 3) was held in Geneva from 5-8 March 1996. Delegates|
heard a number of new, specific proposals on new commitment;
for Annex | Parties, including a two-phase g£€missions
reduction target proposed by Germany. They also discussed hqg
Annex | countries might distribute or share new commitments, g
whether those should take the form of an amendment or protoc
Developing countries raised questions on whether policies and
measures under discussion would represent barriers to trade.
Delegates agreed to compile proposals for new commitments fa
consideration at the next session of the AGBM, and to hold
informal roundtable discussions on policies and measures as w
as on quantitative emissions limitation and reduction objectives

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE AGBM

The first Conference of the Parties (COP-1) to the Framewor

Convention on Climate Change, held in Berlin from 28 March to| &

April 1995, established an open-endsdi HocGroup on the Berlin
Mandate through its decision FCCC/CP/1995/7/Add.1/Decision

1/CP.1, also referred to as the “Berlin Mandate.” The priority aim

of the Berlin Mandate (BM) is the strengthening of commitments
in Article 4.2 (a) and (b) of the Convention for Annex | Parties,
both to elaborate policies and measures, and to set quantified
limitation and reduction objectives within specified timeframes
such as 2005, 2010 and 2020 for anthropogenic emissions by
sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases (GHGs) n
controlled by the Montreal Protocol. The BM states that the prog

will not introduce any new commitments for non-Annex | Parties.

FIRST SESSION

At its first session (AGBM 1), which took place from 21-25
August 1995, the AGBM considered several issues, including a
analysis and assessment to identify possible policies and meas
for Annex | Parties and requests for inputs to subsequent sessig
Delegates debated the nature, content and duration of the analy
and assessment and its relationship to other aspects of the proq
Several developed and developing countries stressed that analy
and assessment should be conducted in parallel and not prior tq
negotiations, but a few developing countries held that more time
was needed, particularly to evaluate economic costs. Regarding

number of requested inputs, with some developed countries
emphasizing the need to avoid delay, while others sought a more
comprehensive approach to increase the AGBM’s options. Many
developing countries requested minimal inputs, stating that a
wealth of information already existed, while a few, mainly oil
producing countries emphasized the need for further study on
economic impacts. AGBM 1 adopted an agenda of work for its

5 second session, but failed to elect its Bureau.

WSECOND SESSION

)r;d The second session of the AGBM was held in Geneva from 30

October - 3 November 1995. Debate over the extent of analysis and
assessment continued, but delegates also heard new ideas for the
structure and form of a possible protocol. During the week-long
meeting, delegates considered: strengthening of commitments in

rticle 4.2 (a) and (b), regarding policies and measures, as well as
rguantified emissions limitation and reduction objectives within
specified timeframes; advancing the implementation Article 4.1,
and possible features of a protocol or other legal instrument.

During the meeting, Spain, on behalf of the European Union,
ubmitted an outline for a protocol or legal instrument. The outline
did not include proposals on policies, measures, objectives or

r

a)

K

IN THIS ISSUE

D

A Brief History of the AGBM...........coooouiiieeeeenn. 1

Dt AGBM 3 REPOM......oviiiiiieeiiiiiiiiieie e 2

es Election of OffiCers .........ccoovviiiiiiiiiici e 2
Strengthening of Commitments in

Article 4.2(a) and (B).....ccceeevivieiiiee e 2

Continuing to Advance Implementation of
ATECIE 4.1 oot 7
Possible Features of a Protocol or Another

LIrg Legal INStrUMENt........coviieieeienie e 8
rs]|s< Report of the SESSION ..........cccvevevevevereeeeeeeeeeeenn 9
5] ABrief Analysis of AGBM 3 ........c.cccocccorcrreciee 9
)

Things to Look for before COP-2 ................... 10

inputs to subsequent sessions, Parties differed widely on the

This issue of thé&arth Negotiations Bulleti® <enb@econet.apc.org> is

Pew Charitable Trusts through the Pew Global Stewardship Initiative.

Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada; tel: +1-204-958-7700; f
are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 1IS

on the Internet.

Development Agency (ODA) of the United Kingdom, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark, the Swedish Ministry of Environment, the Sw
Federal Office of the Environment, the Australian Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of the Environment of Iceland. The authors can be
contacted at their electronic mail addresses or at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. 11ISD can be contacted at 161 Portage Avenue East,

in other publications with appropriate citation. Electronic versions oBtliketin are automatically sent to e-mail distribution lists (ASCII and PDF
format) and can be found on the gopher at <gopher.igc.apc.org> and in hypertext throuighalge SWWW-server at <http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/>

written and edited by Chad Carpenter, LLM <ccarpenter@econet.apc.org>,

Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pchasek@pipeline.com> and Steve Wise <swise@econet.apc.org>. The Managing Editor is Langston James Goree VI “Ki
<kimo@pipeline.com>. The sustaining donors of Bhletin are the International Institute for Sustainable Development <iisd@web.apc.org> and the

General support for the Bulletin for 1996 is provided by the Overseas |
iss

ax: +1-204-958-7710. The opinions expressEdritn thegotiations Bulletin
D and other funders. ExcerptsEeoth tiiegotiations Bulletimay be used




Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 2

timeframes, but was organized on three principles: consistency
with prior AGBM discussions; creating a dynamic instrument tha
can develop over time; and linking measures to existing
Convention provisions where they apply. The outline includes s
articles: commitments by developed and other Annex | Parties,
including a section on voluntary application by non-Annex |
Parties; commitments by all Parties; review of commitments;
cross-references to FCCC articles; amendment procedures,
including simplified procedures for annexes; and final clauses. |
would include three annexes of policies and measures: those
applicable to all Annex | Parties; those agreed as high priority in
national programmes; and those to be considered in national
programmes, as appropriate. While delegates did not decide to
adopt this outline, they did agree that it merits further considera

AGBM 3 REPORT

AGBM Chair Raul Estrada Oyuela (Argentina) opened the
session, noting that delegates should be prepared to complete {
analysis and evaluation required of the Berlin Mandate. In view
the fact that 154 States have submitted ratifications, it is becom
increasingly clear that the international community is becoming
more committed to the Framework Convention on Climate Chan
(FCCC). But, he said, progress depends not only on the numbe
delegations that can attend but also on the need to understand
can occur and what needs to be done. He recalled conclusions
the IPCC Second Assessment Report (SAR) that action by mar
indeed influencing the climate system. There is a need to show

Monday, 11 March 1996

Delegates then adopted the agenda (FCCC/AGBM/1996/1) and
itannotations to the agenda (FCCC/AGBM/1996/1/Add.1). Four new
NGOs were accredited to participate in the AGBM, and the Chair
Xnoted that as in previous meetings NGOs would be welcome on the
floor before meetings only.

The Chair said the Bureau had adjusted the schedule for future
AGBM meetings: AGBM 4 will meet during COP-2; AGBM 5 will
meet 9-13 December 1996 in Geneva; AGBM 6 from 3-7 March

[ 1997 in Bonn; and AGBM 7 during the summer of 1997, prior to
COP-3 at a location to be determined.

ELECTION OF OFFICERS OTHER THAN THE CHAIR

ion.The Chair summarized negotiations on election of AGBM
officers other than Chair, which had not been conclusive. Four
regional groups had agreed to a Bureau format including a Chair,
two Vice-Chairs, and the two subsidiary body Chairsxasfficio
neembers. Appointing advisers to the Bureau is still under
Og?scussion. The Western European and Others Group (WEOG) and
r@ue Asian Group are to appoint Vice-Chairs. WEOG nominated
an Reifsnyder (US), Asia nominated Thailand, and both
minations were accepted. The Chair also invited Maciej
r gedowski (Poland), China, Jorge Bergufio (Chile), Bert Metz
wiNgtherlands), Bakary Kante (Senegal), and Evans King (Trinidad
v Tobago) to be interim advisers. CHINA said the Asian Group
igad selected Thailand and Saudi Arabia to provide its
representatives, so he could not accept the invitation. Mohamed

awareness of this and to make progress in adopting precautiona@&lem Sorour Al Sabban (Saud| Arabia) was selected as an adviser.

measures that will help to tackle problems in an effective way.

The Chair said that from the beginning the AGBM has had a
group of delegations that has tried to slow the progress of work
expressed his intention to overcome that obstacle and move
forward. He urged all delegations to reflect on this point and to
contribute effectively to achievement of the BM. He promised to
do everything in his power to avoid getting “our feet caught in a
of procedural matters or small questions” leading to infinite stud
that would delay the AGBM'’s work.

Executive Secretary Michael Zammit-Cutajar said the sessio
has the advantage of starting with substantial inputs from inform
workshops and debate in the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and
Technological Advice (SBSTA) on the IPCC SAR which, while
not conclusive, is reflected in the SBSTA report. He said he wag
struck by the IPCC Chair’'s observation that in certain scenarios
future per capita emissions should not exceed per capita emissi
today to permit stabilization at double pre-industrial atmospherig
concentration of C&@ Combined with the statement that
developing countries need to increase their energy consumptior

achieve sustainable development, he drew two conclusions: thergIs

a need to focus on development and deployment of sustainable
energy supplies to further de-link energy for sustainable growth
and while switching to sustainable energy, developed countries
should actively promote sustainable consumption patterns and
energy efficient technologies, limiting their per capita fuel use to
create space in which developing countries can increase their
consumption. Quantitative emission limitation and reduction

objectives (QELROs) may be viewed not only as a step to limiting,
global emissions but also toward redistributing emissions to wher]

they are most needed. It is not a suggestion for dumping old
technologies but a reminder that redistribution of resources is
necessary to achieve sustainable development.

The Secretariat is ready to prepare additional documents, by
urged delegates to evaluate the utility of any major new docume
they may request. One main question for this session is whethe|
AGBM sees merit in the institutional strategy of using existing
Convention processes and bodies, such as the Secretariat, or p
to establish new ones. For financial as well as institutional reasd
he suggested there is merit in the institutional economy of seek

Japan reminded delegates that it has expressed interest in
hosting the third or subsequent COP.

K RENGTHENING OF COMMITMENTS IN ARTICLE
4.2 (a) AND (b)

Delegates discussed strengthening the commitments of Annex |
NPhrties. On Tuesday, 5 March, they heard a report from subsidiary
&Sodies. Quantified emissions reduction objectives (QUELROSs)
were considered Wednesday, 6 March. Delegates discussed
npolicies and measures on Wednesday and Thursday, 6-7 March.

al INPUTS FROM SUBSIDIARY BODIES: The Chair recalled

the AGBM'’s request for specialized inputs from subsidiary bodies
related to relevant portions of the IPCC Second Assessment Report
(SAR), national communications of Annex | Parties, in-depth

» reviews, and the SBSTA report on technologies. He said the

OPE&BM would seek guidance from the SAR on strengthening

b commitments.

SBSTA Chair Tibor Farago said it was complicated to reach
Bbnsensus on the IPCC SAR but that it was time to arrive at some
"B&ic conclusions. The SBSTA decided to: note that it held only an
initial exchange of views; commend the entire SAR to all FCCC
bodies; invite Parties to submit views for a full consideration of the
SAR at SBSTA-3; consider the SAR an important science-based,
comprehensive analysis; recommend that the IPCC provide further
inputs; and agree that findings and projections should be made
available to different audiences with special attention to the
national and regional levels. The SBSTA proceedings indicate that
| Some delegations said that the findings of the SAR should be
Pl€mmunicated to all FCCC bodies, especially the AGBM, and that
the findings underlined the necessity of urgent action. The SBSTA
Chair highlighted two elements: that atmospheric concentrations
are increasing largely because of human activities and that the
th@ance of evidence suggests a discernible human influence on the
lobal climate system. Other delegations expressed the view that it
I'i@@remature for the SBSTA to highlight specific SAR findings.
These delegations said the list of items was highly selective,
refglscting a limited and biased view because other IPCC findings
"Should be equally important, including that many uncertainties and
NEactors limit the ability to detect and project future climate change.

a “non-proliferation protocol.”

On cooperation with the IPCC, the SBSTA noted the conclusions



Monday, 11 March 1996

of the IPCC meeting in Rome in December and those of the
SBSTA/IPCC joint working group, and it requested a list of
subjects for further IPCC reports and workshops.

On national communications, six in-depth reviews of Annex |
Parties communications are available. These identify successfu
approaches to meeting commitments as well as difficulties. Whi
the compilation and synthesis is not finished, basic information
indicates that most Parties will not be able to stabilize GHGs at
1990 level by 2000. Regarding non-Annex | Parties
communications, the SBSTA considered a G-77/China docume
as the basis for adoption of guidelines and a format.

Under technological inventory and assessment, the SBSTA
considered the Secretariat document (FCCC/SBSTA/1996/4 an
FCCC/SBSTA/1996/4/Add.1) and noted information available in
other fora. The Secretariat was asked to plan for technology
information centres, survey Parties’ information needs, set up a
catalogue of adaptation technologies, and draft a paper on term
technology transfer.

The Chair of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI),
Mahmoud Ould El Gaouth (Mauritania), reported on the
conclusions of the SBI meeting. He said the SBI unanimously
adopted a conclusion on Annex | national communications, whig
gives projected emissions to the year 2000 and is unambiguousg
current activities will not reduce GHG emissions unless addition
measures are taken by those Parties. A decision on hon-Annex
communications is still pending.

IPCC Chair Bert Bolin then reviewed the conclusions of the
SAR. He said the IPCC's aim is to make objective statements a
point out uncertainties, but also to emphasize robust findings. H
said the most important finding is that the balance of evidence
suggests discernible human influence on climate. The .5° increg
of global mean surface air temperature in the last century is not
itself sufficient to draw conclusions because of natural variability
But there is evidence that: increasing i@the atmosphere will
lead to increasing temperature in the lower atmosphere and cog
in the stratosphere; the greater warming in the southern than th
northern hemisphere in the past 50 years shows the shielding €|
of aerosols; and spatial patterns of climate change in the northe

hemisphere are similar to model predictions with the only possihle

explanation being human influence on global climate. Natural
variability does not negate this conclusion about human influeng
but makes it difficult to isolate a figure of sensitivity in the 1.5-4.
increase above pre-industrial temperatures predicted by 2100.
Considerable uncertainty remains, but uncertainty does not
eliminate risk. He also emphasized that no regrets measures ar
available in most countries, and that the precautionary principle
provides a rationale for action beyond no regrets. The challenge
to select a prudent strategy of adaptation, mitigation and resear
for adjustments over time. The SAR does not recommend speci
measures, but many options are identified that can achieve 10-3
emissions reductions at little or no cost.

SAUDI ARABIA said the IPCC is an objective scientific body
that does not engage in policy and never will in the future. He sa
it is difficult to indicate the amount of human influence because
remaining uncertainties, including the magnitude and pattern of
long-term natural variability. The IPCC should provide a view of
whether existing proposals, including the AOSIS draft protocol,
will really avert climate change and whether an effort with real
economic costs will have real environmental benefits.

Bolin said that the stabilization exercises show that a major
change of emissions must take place over the next century.
Ultimately there will be a need for deep cuts that require effort o
all countries. NIGERIA recalled that Bolin had said, during
SBSTA, that there were uncertainties inherent in the SAR. The
models need to be evaluated, the risk analysis has not been pra
pursued and the proposed policies and measures (P&M) must K

Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 3

SAMOA, on behalf of AOSIS, said the first set of conclusions
highlighted in the SBSTA report best capture the weight of the
science and the urgency for action. He said a dangerous
interference has already occurred and the implications for small

| islands are extremely serious. The AGBM must negotiate

eemissions reductions and their timetable for implementation and
make progress toward establishing a protocol or other legal
instrument. CANADA supported the findings in the first set of
SBSTA conclusions and noted that they seemed to have the support

nof most Parties. JAPAN supported the SAR findings and said
specific P&M should be clarified. He focused on national
communications and emphasized the need for more systematic and

gcomparable in-depth reviews. The EU commended the IPCC report
and highlighted several specific findings. He said the risk of
aggregate damage warranted action beyond no regrets measures
and that the policies proposed in the report can serve as a basis for

sfgture action. SAUDI ARABIA recalled that two sets of opinions
were included in the SBSTA report on key findings.

POLICIES AND MEASURES: Chow Kok Kee (Malaysia)
summarized an informal workshop on policies and measures
(P&M) held on 4-5 March 1996. He noted a presentation by IPCC
wHChair Bolin that stressed there is no optimum set of measures but
@agh country needs to develop those best suited to its situation.
aMany feasible measures have not been instituted, so there is a need
| to bridge the gap between feasibility and decision making. The
workshop considered measures in renewable energy, transport,
industry, including voluntary agreements, sustainable agriculture
1q}nd economic instruments. The need for reduced dependence on
A aterial consumption, decoupling energy and growth, and
de-carbonization — the use of non-fossil fuels and nuclear energy
g~ were highlighted, as were national experiences. Lessons
bbﬁcluded: the need for a package of measures combining
arket-based and government action; measures must be tailored to
"national circumstances, but energy and transport sectors are vital;
i d much can be done with little cost, but the focus needs be on
aﬁ licy to overcome barriers. A lack of a socioeconomic analysis of
b gﬂ-Annex | Parties was a problem. He suggested that the AGBM
rrg sider holding another workshop for further exchange of views.
I

The Secretariat introduced the document on policies and
measures (FCCC/AGBM/1996/2), explaining that it was compiled
drom Annex | national communications and in-depth reviews, as
avell as the SAR and Parties’ submissions. The compilation: is
structured by sectoral classifications, based on IPCC
methodologies; considers the relative contribution of each sector to
- proportional emissions; and gives an overview of Annex | Party
responses. The Secretariat tried to estimate the potential for
ission reductions in each sector using IPCC information, and
j%gn identify areas for further analysis and assessment by the
fidGBM in line with the AGBM 2 objective to narrow the range of
3gaglicies and measures.

CANADA reported on the Annex | experts group project on
P&M for common action, which is developing a methodology for
\igvaluating their effectiveness. The group’s report (FCCC/AGBM/
ol 995/MISC.1) has a framework for common action and analysis,
which includes: policies and objectives; assessment approaches; a
description of actions; the rationale for common actions and ways
to implement them; the potential to reduce emissions or improve
sinks; economic costs and benefits; political feasibility; barriers and
how to address them; time required for implementation and for
achieving expected GHG reductions; and the impacts, including
social and environmental ones, on countries including non-Annex |
; Parties. The project does not suggest Parties’ preferences for

measures in a protocol, and recognizes that there are a range of
definitions for common action. The first tranche of the project
glger_s sustainable transport; energy market reform; economic and
gﬁé al instruments; demand side efficiency; sustainable agriculture
and forestry; and energy efficiency finance for economies in

h

examined.

transition. An analysis will be ready for COP-3.



Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 4

The Chair noted that to produce a result for COP-3, delegate
need to narrow down P&M. A final document should have

Monday, 11 March 1996

snational circumstances. Cross-sectoral measures, including taxes,
should be covered, and subsidy reductions and market reforms are

flexibility to enlarge or reduce possible annexes to a protocol, byitPromising economic instruments.

to include some identified P&M in a protocol would not exclude
others.

SAUDI ARABIA said delegates should consider all GHGS, ng
only COp. The Secretariat's document’s sectoral analysis overlo
some sectors, such as measures to reduce deforestation under
land-use change and forestry. Extensive analysis of removing
market distortions could provide good starting points. ITALY, on
behalf of the EU, said the EU has begun investigating 11 areas
P&M, identifying indicators, evaluating targets, and assessing
emission reductions toward a study for AGBM 4. Papers will be
produced on renewable energy and energy efficiency, labeling,
transport, and economic instruments. Priorities include: energy
policies; industrial measures, including voluntary agreements;
agriculture; forests; waste management; HFCs and CFCs; and
actions in the local environment. The US said the flexibility of a
full range of policy options should be retained because narrowin
could “run roughshod” over differences in national circumstance
Criteria to select P&M could be: actions with great commonality
those with broad support; areas where only a few Parties are ag
but with significant potential; and cost-effectiveness. Noting
examples in refrigerators, power outlets and fuel taxes, he said
harmonized standards may push a lowest common denominato
and discourage innovation. It is desirable to look for common
actions, but those would not necessarily promote national
flexibility or environmental effectiveness.

CHILE supported Germany's proposed approach for a flat ra|
emissions reduction, noting it contained clear measures and wg
aimed at CQemissions without precluding other instruments. Hg
suggested adding emphasis to hydroelectric and nuclear energy
energy marketing, and industrial processes. AUSTRALIA said
P&M in a legal instrument should complement national
programmes. Economic and social analysis cannot follow the
narrowing process. An evaluation methodology should be defing
before culling out measures. A sectoral selection process shoul
focus only on CQ. A comprehensive approach demonstrated in
workshop showed that differences between Annex | Parties neg
be taken into account. GDP welfare costs should be covered in
analysis.

CANADA said the IPCC SAR suggests that significant
opportunities are available for Parties to take actions, so it is
important to identify P&M that reinforce the positive relationship|
between economics and the environment, such as energy efficig
and pollution controls. He highlighted areas for action: energy;
heavy industry; residential buildings; transportation;
non-combustion industries; agriculture; forestry; waste
management and sewage treatment; and cross-sectoral econor
instruments. Guidelines on P&M could help in narrowing option

The NETHERLANDS said there are reasons for harmonizing
P&M because some measures cannot be taken at the national level
twithout distorting the global market. Also global trade rules limit
piéat individual nations can do, requiring international coordination
to overcome the limitations. As examples, energy efficiency could
be addressed, and international action would be required for
agreement between automobile producers to encourage more fuel
oefficient cars. IRAN said the AGBM should cooperate with the
World Trade Organization (WTQ), the International Energy
Agency (IEA), OPEC, UNIDO and others to assess which P&M
are effective and efficient. Some measures could transfer capital
from developing to developed countries and would adversely affect
terms of trade. ICELAND said differentiated commitments can
imply a more complicated agreement, but reduction targets are
possible in a more cost-effective manner if different national
gcircumstances are recognized. He cited Iceland’s situation: nearly
s100% of its energy is renewable, but two-thirds of emissions come
from transport, which will not be a priority in an agreement.

ting SRl LANKA said a protocol like AOSIS’s can be adopted.
There is a need for urgency even if Northern countries are not
obviously affected. Everyone stands to lose if no action is taken.

r UGANDA said Annex | countries must take seriously their
commitment to transfer technology and financial resources to
developing countries. The EU proposals contain concrete and
useful measures. Clear P&M in technology and technical

t&know-how can play an important role.

s The REPUBLIC of KOREA said cross-sectoral economic

2 instruments and energy efficiency measures based on high
,technology have significant trade impacts. He expressed concern
about market and labeling measures. If measures have negative
impacts on some countries, coordination is necessary to make the
measures most effective and put them in conformity with

ednternational agreements. P&M should be designed and selected to

d anoid negative impacts on non-Annex | countries’ market access

hend should not be disguised discriminatory trade measures.

d tOMALAYSIA said it is hard to see the need for differentiation

theetween countries. Differentiation should not be an excuse not to
advance policies. The AGBM should prioritize P&M based on
aggregate effectiveness within and between sectors. P&M should
not lead to “emissions leakage,” the transfer of polluting industry to
developing countries. Harmonizing cross-sectoral economic

eregtruments should not be discouraged. P&M could lead to trade
barriers, so impacts must be considered.

JAPAN said work on C@emissions will be required as the
ultimate solution. Existing technology will not be sufficient, so
Nesearch and development on innovative technologies should begin
5,now. The US agreed with the Netherlands that markets can benefit

but the narrowing should not exclude sectors or GHGs and shoulg

include sinks. P&M should: benefit from international
coordination; have potential for emission reductions; produce
multiple dividends consistent with other policies; make positive
socioeconomic contributions; be flexible, practical and innovativ
permitting implementation in different national circumstances; b
transparent and comprehensive; facilitate abatement technolog
development and diffusion; and facilitate wide participation in
mitigation.

SWITZERLAND said fluorocarbons and HFCs should be

included as a sector, as a possible growing source of emissions| tf

are persistent in atmosphere compared to other gases. NEW
ZEALAND suggested criteria to focus on: specific policies; cost
effectiveness and efficacy; producing significant abatement at le
cost; durability with flexibility to adapt to new information on the
timing and magnitude of climate change; transparency in
environmental and economic effects; and effectiveness across

Uiffom coordination of standards, but harmonization can be
over-emphasized. It often tends toward a lowest common
denominator and can dampen innovation. Delegates need to ask
whether harmonization and coordination of measures is the best use

Eof available time.

KUWAIT said several delegations had referred to the SAR and

/ selective portions and attempted to related them to QELROs. As in
the SBSTA, some statements were highly selective, reflected a
limited and biased view of what was important and were taken out
of context. The SAR does not provide adequate guidance on

a}
-

thafetables or targets and an informed decision will require much
more information. He said there is a request for technical papers
that examine economic impacts and noted that no interventions had

ajuared their suggestions with the social and economic impacts. He
said he was puzzled over the Annex | countries’ interpretations of
words such as “equity” and “differentiated” approach.




Monday, 11 March 1996

The MARSHALL ISLANDS stressed the need for urgent acti
and said the socioeconomic effects of actions should be consid
against the baseline of no action at all. He said the premise that
P&M will have an immediate and adverse effect is entirely false
He noted it has taken a year to get to this stage in the AGBM
process, largely due to the “anthropogenic interference” of some
delegations who are intent on undermining this process. He sai
lengthy debate on socioeconomic concerns will lead to delays.

INDIA echoed the Republic of Korea’s apprehensions on the
implications of P&M on trade. The P&M that must be integrated
into Annex | Parties’ policies must be examined very carefully af
may require accompanying measures to prevent adverse impag
developing countries. Any versions of prior informed consent ar
labeling must not become disguised trade barriers. KENYA
stressed availability cost and the potential for strengthening
renewable technology. He said tropical countries would be good
markets for solar power, but the technology must be affordable.
Public education should grow along with these measures,
particularly where new products are marketed. ARGENTINA sa
that subsidies for agriculture that affect GHGs must be reduced
noted that many interventions referred to P&M that have an imp
on trade and said the current debate in the WTO suggests therg
many measures that could affect trade. He agreed with India an
the Republic of Korea on the need to know the economic
implications of P&M adopted by Annex | Parties. While they

should be applied, equality and equity should not be undermineg.

He called for flexibility and disagreed with narrowing the list of
P&M. EGYPT said that QELROs are the real yardstick for
measuring the Convention’s success. She placed high priority 0
P&M regarding renewable energy sources, but said the possiblé
adverse effects of trade measures must be examined. MOROC
said that measures must respect country sovereignty and accol
for the impact on developing countries. He said he cannot acce
proposals on labeling because they are a way of avoiding
international trade rules. He recalled a UNIDO eco-labeling
decision that calls for cooperation and taking developing countr
into account.

QUANTIFIED EMISSION LIMITATION REDUCTION
OBJECTIVES WITHIN SPECIFIC TIMEFRAMES: The
Secretariat presented a report by Dr. Pascale Morand Francis
(Switzerland) on an informal workshop on QELROs held 28
February 1996. The workshop was organized by the Secretariat
help the AGBM accomplish its task of setting quantified objectiv
within specific timeframes. Experts from five Parties, two IGOs
and three other organizations made presentations. IPCC Chair
Bolin presented the Panel's most recent findings relevant to

QELROs. Participants also discussed the definition of “dangerous

as referred to in Article 2 of the Convention. Bolin said that the
Parties should decide for themselves, while others said the IPC
could develop criteria or indicators to help set a threshold. The
workshop also heard a number of technical presentations on
modeling, the design of cost-effective mitigation strategies, the
of emission reductions, and near-term strategies for long-term
climate protection.

Economic models were seen as tools to help understand the
forward, although they do not adequately reflect the complexity
and dynamic nature of technological development and do not

account for feedbacks. The workshop succeeded in raising issu B
related to the concepts of equity and differentiation among Annex2

Parties. The workshop recommended that the AGBM address tf
following: appropriate levels of emissions limitation and reductig
timing of the implementation of QELROS; whether equity
principles will be reflected in a protocol or another legal instrumg
through a differentiation regime; and how new ideas — such as
possibility of drawing a distinction between production- and
consumption-related emission budgets and “safe emission
corridors” — help in setting QELROs.

Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 5

on  The Chair noted the great emphasis placed on analysis and

pEsbessment at previous meetings, but said very little had been done
on the substance of the issues. He said the workshop helped in that
regard. He also reflected on external debt as another cost to
developing countries and said perhaps it is time for developed

2 countries to pay their debt, which was incurred as a result of the

i Bndustrial revolution. In addition to possible country objectives,
group objectives for reductions could be considered.

SAUDI ARABIA said that setting QELROs is not only the

business of Annex | countries and expressed surprise at the low
ndevel of participation of developing countries in the workshop.
t&exgarding energy modeling and the energy-related discussions, he
dreminded delegates that the AGBM mandate calls for consideration

of other gases and other sectors that would contribute to reduction

of the foreseen costs. He also called for consideration of equity

issues from an international perspective, not simply among the

Annex | Parties, because the issues affect non-Annex | countries.

He requested examination of the issues to avoid having losers
damong the group.

HeThe Chair responded that preparations for the workshop
@ficluded invitations for all possible participants and that OPEC was
MQited but declined to attend. He said the analysis must end and
actions must begin at some point. He also said he did not recall
anyone talking about the effect of measures on developing
countries when OPEC raised oil prices twenty years ago.

BRAZIL stated that it may be appropriate to initially establish
an overall aggregate quantitative objective and then negotiate the
relative participation of countries or the sharing among countries.
I:‘The group would have priori an idea of the effect of the
éggjectives on the climate. They would be negotiated so that the
erall emissions of Annex | countries would be within
uantitative objectives. He also said the principle of common but
Plifferentiated responsibilities could justify estimating the relevant
contributions of each country to the relative climate change.
es COSTA RICA, on behalf of the G-77/China, said that the
RGBM must move forward on emission targets. The G-77/China
has insisted that overall emissions are the important issue and that
emissions should be reduced to 1990 levels. He recalled the COP
decision that there would be no new commitments for developing
countries and that the extent to which developing country Parties
&an implement the Convention depends on the developed countries.
Pe reminded developed countries of their obligation to provide for
Sull agreed costs through the interim financial mechanism, but said

Bﬁ{lgting the resources in the GEF is not the same thing as making
m available directly to developing countries.
us.” 1The Chair said that this final point must be made with the
utmost clarity to the SBI and called upon Costa Rica, as Chair of
cthe G-77/China, to raise it. TURKEY cited its GDP per capita,
anthropogenic emissions per capita and unit of territory and levels
of production and consumption of energy per capita. He said it was
ident that Turkey’s contribution to global warming was a fraction
of the average of the Annex | countries.

JAPAN said commitments should be strengthened by
V\;%,mbining policies and measures and QELROSs, using short-term
and medium- or long-term time scales with both legally-binding
and target commitments. New commitments need to be flexible to
cheighten agreement and acceptance. He emphasized development

N
{

\Of differential criteria and indicators to ensure equity in

L&ommitments based on variable marginal emission reduction costs

rf‘”d different past efforts at mitigation and limitation among parties.
TALY, on behalf of the EU, said based on IPCC projections of

s dtmospheric C@stabilization levels and temperature increase, a

ifgvel of 550 parts per million should guide limitation and reduction
efforts. Collective objectives for Annex | Parties could group
emissions for all Annex | Parties or group emissions of OECD and
non-OECD countries. Either arrangement would require equitable

sharing within each group. Individual objectives could be uniform



Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 6

or differentiated by limitations and reductions. Economic and
demographic indicators, equity criteria and flexibility to reduce
economic impact and mitigation costs are among considerations
establish equitable and timely differentiation. Longer timeframes
would be useful for planning and investment decisions, but shor
timeframes, such as 2005 and 2010, are also important for
accountability and monitoring. ROMANIA called for flexibility
and cost effective reductions. She said Romania has used
bottom-up approaches that permit reductions without
supplementary costs.

SAMOA, on behalf of AOSIS, said the AOSIS draft protocol
addresses gases other tharp(glling for targets and timetables :
the first meeting of protocol Parties. He said there is a need to
strengthen commitments beyond 20% below 1990 €®@issions
by 2005. Discussions on flexibility in time scales are
compromising or are likely to compromise the urgent need for
GHG emission reductions. He reiterated the need for urgent
reductions to occur within a safe emissions corridor to prevent
irreversible or dangerous interference with the climate system.

NIGERIA said stabilizing emissions at 1990 levels will be
costly for the world economy and will not lead to significant
abatement compared with business as usual scenarios. Some
countries, mainly developing ones, would be worse off, so there
a need to analyze economic impacts, not as a delaying tactic by
allay genuine fears. CHINA said reduction objectives and policig
and measures are integrated, with policies and measures as m¢
to achieve targets.

GERMANY proposed C@reduction objectives of 10% by
2005 and 15-20% by 2010, both against a base year of 1990. S
said it is an ambitious and necessary approach that would also
devise targets and timetables for nong&missions. An additional
target for 2020 is possible, but uncertainties mean it is too far in
the future to reliably guide efforts now. The objectives should be
binding, with some flexibility for economies in transition, and
would fit into the protocol structure proposed by the EU. She sa
the single gas approach has greater precision, avoiding CO
equivalent calculations of greenhouse warming potentials that
could make a combined gas approach difficult. The flat rate
reduction has proven worth, simplicity and practicality, and
accounts for different starting points by measuring efforts again
historical emissions. There are other equity approaches, such a
differential targets, but there are practical difficulties in generatin
indicators. The proposal does not affect Germany’s commitmen
a 25% emissions reduction by 2005. She requested that the
Secretariat compile proposals submitted so far and submissiong

Monday, 11 March 1996

protocol should form a basis to elaborate on quantified targets.
Flexibility in time and place of reductions could allow countries to

5 tielay and transfer their commitment to others. Because of

opportunities and technology available, he suggested a quantified
t& Oy target rather than a comprehensive approach. For equitable
burden sharing, and differences between starting points and
economic structure among Annex | countries, a methodology is
needed including indicators to facilitate a quantitative target.
AUSTRIA is committed to the Toronto Target as a national target
and will increase efforts in the face of evidence it may not reach the
target. He supported a gas-by-gas approach and comprehensive
htmnonitoring. A flat rate has merit, and binding reduction objectives
give incentive for early action.

CANADA restated its support for the conclusions contained in
the SAR. She supported further examination of concepts such as
collective emission objectives (bubble concept) to determine how
such a programme would be implemented. She stressed the
importance of ensuring equitable burden-sharing and said a
differentiated approach must take into account different national
circumstances. On timeframes, Canada suggested establishing an
objective for the medium- to long-term to avoid preclusion of any
options.
is The MARSHALL ISLANDS said the workshop last week

tshowed that emissions reduction was not a matter of “if,” but
2Swhen” and “how much more.” A possible 80% loss of land in the
xdviarshall Islands makes this issue more than dangerous. He said it
is misleading to look at the economic costs of reducing oil
revenues, because we cannot put a cost on the total cultural and
hehysical obliteration of the Marshall Islands.

IRAN reminded delegates that the Convention contains
provisions on sources and sinks and calls for balanced action. He
tesaid that enhancement of sinks is as vital as emission reductions

and stressed the importance of aforestation and reforestation in
Annex | countries. For setting QELROSs, analysis of socioeconomic
dmpacts must be integral. P&M should not create any disguised
barriers to trade, particularly for developing countries, and should
address all gases in a quantified manner.

The NETHERLANDS said the IPCC report presents the best
available science and, although the information is incomplete, the
SIAGBM must make initial judgments now. He supported the
5 Marshall Islands in noting that the scenario presented by the IPCC
Ghreatens the continuing existence of many countries. The question
t 18 not whether the world can afford to save small island States, but
how to lower emissions at the lowest possible cost. He said the
concept of safe emission corridors warrants further examination

received by 15 April 1996 into a single document for AGBM 4 ang,

COP-2.

AUSTRALIA said success will be enhanced by recognizing
country circumstances. Flexibility can create opportunities for
wider and more effective action and will deliver the most effectiv
environmental result. He supported differentiation between Part|
for equity, using possible criteria and indicators for equitable
burden sharing. He proposed rules for determining equitable eff
based on the ability to pay principle; mitigation action should be
proportional to capacity to pay; countries of comparable income|
should face comparable per capita costs; and mitigation should
proportional to emissions, current or projected.

The US said the QELROs workshop and a US analysis show
different views on how to implement targets and timetables and
an environmentally and cost-effective structure; the need for wo
on possible differentiation between Parties; and that level, timin
location and sharing of action affect costs and environmental
impacts and benefits. The next steps must be environmentally
sustainable and cost effective and provide flexibility in the
implementation of obligations. Flexibility of emissions timing ang
location allows countries to choose cost-effective paths. Conser

@nd proposed a follow-up workshop. He highlighted emission
budgets as a good tool to minimize the costs and create incentives
for early action, and suggested compiling a document on applying
this concept.

€ The RUSSIAN FEDERATION stated that new requests for
&&ductions by his country were premature. The Russian Federation
has already reduced its emissions and is currently restructuring its
OEconomic potential. The preconditions for raising the question of
additional obligations will occur when Russia’s GDP per capita is
comparable to the OECD countries. He emphasized that P&M
behould not prevent sustainable development and should account for
specific social and economic situations. Recommendations from
ettie workshop were obviously written by experts from OECD
orountries. POLAND said that quantification of targets is the most
rikmportant issue for the AGBM. On criteria, timetables and
gcommitments, there must be more specific proposals. He proposed
establishing aad hocgroup of technical experts to elaborate
specific proposals. NEW ZEALAND stated that consideration of
the SAR last week should clarify the importance of the AGBM.
] This group faces real world threats of catastrophic proportions. He
1ssiessed that equity and efficiency both may be served by

does not yet exist on next steps. MALAYSIA said the AOSIS dr?ft



Monday, 11 March 1996

international economic instruments. While such instruments raig
difficult issues, the options should be left open.

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO said Brazil's proposal on QELRO
provided a logical way forward and Germany’s proposal provide
impetus to the work of the AGBM. He said the gas-by-gas
approach is the simplest and most effective, and expressed sur

Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 7

€ COSTA RICA, on behalf of the G-77/China, said the AGBM is
on a separate track. It must consider its own momentum and

5 concentrate on strengthening the Annex | Parties’ commitments.

dThe G-77/China did not consider this a key item and warned
against spending too much time with it. He recalled the workshop

brggecommunications of non-Annex | Parties that led to the

at Australia’s idea of equity. Each country could propose an idea 6-77/China position paper submitted to the subsidiary bodies. It

equity that suits its own needs. SLOVENIA agreed that equity w
an important consideration and supported the flat rate approach
said work should start now if an agreement is expected by COP
and drew attention to the need to examine how economic
development will affect GHG reduction. KENYA said that
statements by Annex | Parties show their willingness to support
new targets. She noted that the EU is on track to lower its levelg
and hoped that all Annex | Parties could follow suit. NORWAY
called for differentiated commitments for individual Parties. This
will require sophisticated approaches, but the workshop revealg
several suggestions. He said the flat-rate approach is not
cost-effective and noted that a cost-effective approach will facili
agreement on more ambitious commitments.

THAILAND said the IPCC report stresses the need to
immediately reduce emissions. He said developed countries sh
strive for legally-binding targets before flexibility should be
allowed. He called for narrowing the range of options to acceler
the process. VENEZUELA said the impact of implementation m
be addressed. Venezuela, like others, is toiling under a burden
foreign debt and needs foreign assistance to carry out social
programmes. He said developed countries have promised to
stabilize their emissions, but even if projected increases are
reduced, they will still be far from reaching the target. SAUDI
ARABIA noted that many Parties had referred to IPPC measure|
and findings, and said it is premature to have conclusions on thi
issue. The SBSTA report shows that different points of view wef
voiced and that delegates agreed to leave the issue to another
session. The two lists should be on an equal footing when refer
to at the AGBM. The Chair said the Group would not re-open th
discussion now.

SAMOA, on behalf of AOSIS, noted that the proposals provig

a range of useful policies and measures, but such proposals aldng,,
without QELROs, cannot significantly advance this process. The

approach laid out by the EU can be strengthened by placing the
policies and measures within a legally-binding target and by
development of specific performance targets. NORWAY noted t
the removal of subsidies is particularly pertinent to creating mar
incentives for environmentally sound behavior. The IPCC also
reports that there are several no regrets measures, including
replacement of biased taxation. The risk of aggregate damage
provides rationale beyond these measures. JAPAN said the AG
must not focus solely on quantified objectives, but also on P&M
He proposed establishing mechanisms that review P&M and

enhance them step-by-step. He did not favor compelling all AnneQ

| Parties to take specific measures and said Parties must retain
flexibility. In order to integrate differences, the AGBM should
introduce CQ efficiency in a protocol.

Delegates agreed to continue discussions on QELROs and
policies and measures. They requested that the Secretariat prej
compilation of propsals relating to the treatment of QELROs an
P&M in a protocol or another legal instrument and that the IPC(
prepare a technical paper on possible P&M.

CONTINUING TO ADVANCE IMPLEMENTATION OF
ARTICLE 4.1

The AGBM considered commitments of non-Annex | Parties
Thursday, 7 March, reviewing the introduction of guidelines for
non-Annex | Parties’ national communications presented at the
previous week’'s SBSTA and SBI meetings.

ameflects the spirit of UNCED and represents a great step forward in
. &tbvancing non-Annex | Parties’ commitments. The SBI requested
+3he Secretariat to facilitate assistance on follow-up fora.

The US said all countries can further their activities for growth
and protect the environment at the same time. He noted that the
IPCC points out several P&M that require little or no costs. He
supported the G-77/China proposal for an additional workshop and
regional meetings on best practices. He suggested using the
multilateral consultative process to be developed under Article 13

das a vehicle and said an additional component must be a firm
commitment to an ongoing work programme on technology. The

R said the information in national communications is an essential
first step and added that the GEF should meet the agreed full cost
by non-Annex | Parties. In light of the projected increase in GHG

pchissions, the AGBM should focus on facilitating technology
cooperation.

ate |NDIA stressed the importance of national communications as

Uglrt of an ongoing process. He said the issues of technology

Ditransfer and finance related to the developing countries had been
deliberated at great length by the subsidiary bodies. The AGBM
focus is not on the non-Annex | countries, but on strengthening
Annex | Parties’ commitments. That is the foundation and there
should be no distraction from that goal.

S JAPAN said that national communications by all Parties are as
Simportant as strengthening Article 4.2 (a) and (b). P&M enhance
€equity among Parties. While he appreciated the G-77/China
oposal on guidelines, he expects further elaboration at another
orkshop. National communications are important not only for
BlAnnex | Parties but for non-Annex | Parties to project future
emissions.

€ CANADA said climate change is a global problem and requires
effective international response. She stressed the importance of
© widely disseminating the findings of the SAR and increased public
SGwareness on the issue. She noted the strong interest of non-Annex
hIGF;arties to support indigenous capacity building and said AlJ

e ers private sector investment opportunities.

AUSTRALIA welcomed indications that Parties have increased
their efforts on national communications. He said the adoption of
an initial AlJ pilot phase is a positive step and noted the developing

untries’ interest in adaptation planning. He said all Parties must
take on specific new actions beyond those already underway and
said many no regrets opportunities are available. BRAZIL reported

QN a workshop on a possible format for non-Annex | Parties’

]

national communications. He said this exercise was extremely
useful and additional workshops may be in order.

The PHILIPPINES said the references to Article 4.1 must not be
taken in isolation. She said that the advancing of commitments will
)fﬁ,gt introduce any new commitments for non-Annex-I Parties and
L that Article 4.1 notes that all Parties have differentiated
commitments. She welcomed recognition of the G-77/China
proposal. The COOK ISLANDS said many delegations are aware
of efforts in the Pacific Islands. He looks forward to
implementation of CC:TRAIN. NEW ZEALAND said the
AGBM'’s core objective refers to Annex | Parties, but the Group
must not lose sight of the obligations of all Parties. He welcomed
OBBSTA's progress on non-Annex | communications and said that
for small low-lying island countries, adaptation is a particular
concern. He suggested enhanced liaison to make sure multilateral
institutions integrate climate change concerns into their operations.




Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 8

POSSIBLE FEATURES OF A PROTOCOL OR
ANOTHER LEGAL INSTRUMENT

On Wednesday, 6 March, the Secretariat introduced a note gn

possible features of a protocol or another legal instrument
(FCCC/AGBM/1996/4). The note states that Parties will need to
consider which type of instrument would be most viable in the
current context — a protocol, an amendment or another legal of
guasi-legal instrument. The institutional mechanism will largely
depend on the choice of instrument and the type of substantive
commitments it will contain. The note also contains an annex
comparing the procedures relating to a protocol and an amendn
Delegates also had before them a compilation of comments fron
the Parties (FCCC/AGBM/1996/MISC.1). The Chair said the
options open to the AGBM are plentiful, but the possibilities in
terms of a protocol can be affected by the need to obtain a
sufficient majority. He mentioned several alternative approache
and said delegates should decide which one will be the most
effective. He noted that ideally Parties to the Convention would
also be Parties to the protocol, but it is possible this will not hap

URUGUAY stated that any agreement reached should be as
binding as possible, but noted that some delegates become fea|
when the word protocol is mentioned. Whatever apprehensions
arise may be linked to uncertainty, but the uncertainty does not
dispel the risk. He urged delegates to avoid sending signals tha
weaken the Convention. CHILE said the AGBM needs to take g
political decision and recalled that when the UNFCCC was
negotiated, the EU made a binding declaration to establish a
stronger sense of commitment. Action can be taken without
jeopardizing the unity of the Convention and the AGBM should
direct its effort towards that objective. He supported a protocol 3
called for an instrument that would not divide the Parties.

SENEGAL said that the AGBM cannot continue to “mutter ar
stammer” when faced with such historic events. The Conventio
at a crossroads and Parties must assume their responsibilities.
recalled that amending the Basel Convention was not easy but
nonetheless achieved. The AGBM needs to find the best, simpl
and most effective approach. CHINA said there were many
precedents for adopting a protocol or amendment, but noted tha
the need for Annex | countries to strengthen their commitments
must not be forgotten. She did not favor setting up other
mechanisms because it will lead to coordination problems and
increase bureaucracy.

ARGENTINA emphasized the importance of persevering in t
effort to agree on the rules of procedure to revitalize the
negotiations. It seems unprecedented for a Convention of this
importance to lack it own rules of procedure, particularly while
discussing a protocol. He stressed the need to arrive a solution
July. He said delegates should remember that a Secretariat with
considerable human resources already exists and there are alre
commitments in the Convention. SAMOA, on behalf of AOSIS,
recalled that AOSIS submitted its draft protocol at COP-1 and s
the protocol is intended to complement, not supplant, the
Convention.

In the afternoon of Thursday, 7 March, the Chair opened
discussion of this item by noting Germany’s suggestion to comp
proposals. He said a compilation document will include proposd
from AOSIS, the German elements paper, the Russian Federati
and the EU protocol structure. He also recommended that deleg
consider institutional economy. There is a general understandin
that the Convention Secretariat should also be the protocol
secretariat, but the Conference of the Parties could be different
because the Convention and a protocol could have different
constituencies.

The RUSSIAN FEDERATION said a protocol should have

reachable rather than utopian benchmarks that Parties at varialjle)

levels of development can attain with differentiated responsibilit

Monday, 11 March 1996

commitments would produce the most complete results. He
proposed a regional approach that would require regional scenarios
from the IPCC with quantitative measurements of GHGs on a
separate basis. Elements for countries with economies in transition
are contained in FCCC/AGBM/1996/MISC.1. They include
scientific, technological and economic activities as well as
cooperation with Annex Il Parties in technology introduction,
attracting financial resources and AlJ. The US supported analysis
and assessment, but said the stakes are too high and risks too great
to seek refuge in scientific uncertainty. He urged COP-2 to resolve
the rules of procedure, but said the rules of amendment do not
1%'%?pend on the rules of procedure. Although the US does not prefer
Nan amendment over a protocol, he said an amendment has merit
because it would: not raise complex institutional questions;
simplify the process, and follow the worldwide trend of
| streamlining international instruments. Ratification of a protocol,
P never speedy, argues for an amendment, but delegates should wait
to decide on the form until the agreed commitments are clear.

ben ESTONIA supported the EU structure as the basis for

negotiations. He welcomed the differentiation of the
frebsponsibilities of Parties and said the main criteria should be GDP
["Her capita and other GHG emission factors.

CANADA said delegates can only decide to seek an amendment
or protocol when the nature and scope of commitments are
developed. It is simpler to apply existing institutions to an
amendment than a protocol. A separate bureau would be needed for
an amendment. Given the impasse on the rules of procedure, a
protocol can only be adopted by consensus, whereas an amendment
can be adopted by a three-quarters majority. Use of existing
rigstitutions should be maximized. The instrument chosen should
ave the capacity to evolve. Roles should be explored and
laborated for all Parties. ITALY, on behalf of the EU, said the EU
as already expressed preference for a protocol. It is preferable to
! Bvoid new institutions as much possible. Institutions of quasi-legal
H&r soft law would not meet AGBM requirements. Communication
V8Rd review are more important for a protocol, which would
Fprobably lead to enhanced need for review. The Article 13 process

should produce a multilateral consultative process that could be
adapted.

JAPAN said provisions must incorporate measures that lead to
technology transfer, AlJ and review mechanisms. He said it will
become necessary that an international framework for joint
implementation be given a role by 2000.

'© cosTa RICA, on behalf of the G-77/China, said delegates first
need to resolve the internal regulations of a protocol. The
Secretariat should organize a forum to discuss social and economic

rEffects of proposed P&M.

AUSTRALIA said irrespective of form, the legal instrument

adgeds to address all GHGs, sources and sinks in a comprehensive

manner, as well as all the BM. It is difficult to finalize the form
aidntil content is more advanced, but delegates should look at use of

other instruments, like decisions and guidelines, considering the

advantages and disadvantages of a separate legal instrument. He

endorsed a rigorous effort to reduce costs and the preference to
jj@void new institutions. POLAND prefers a protocol, as explained
| DY the EU and Russian Federation. It should cover only issues in
e BM and not include institutional and other issues. NEW

LAND supported the “non-proliferation principle” of a single

ecretariat and utilizing existing subsidiary bodies. Rules should
apply mutatis mutandiReporting requirements could be
consolidated to reduce the burden on national ministries. SAMOA,
on behalf of AOSIS, said the group had stated its position on form
and content. A legally-binding instrument is part of the preferred
AGBM output. Time should not be spent on the form until
QELROs decisions are completed. He accepted simplification and
on-proliferation. Urgency means delegates must resolve the rules
Y of procedure.

g

A protocol rather than amendments with joint but differentiated



Monday, 11 March 1996

CHINA said the BM states that the process will produce a
legally-binding document. The thrust is to strengthen Annex |
Parties’ commitments. It cannot be a comprehensive regime bu
only be of a specific scope that strengthens a specific area of th
Convention. Existing institutions can carry out new commitment

Delia Villagrasa, on behalf of Climate Action Network, said th
IPCC SAR shows there is no basis for delay or lack of action bu
much that demands quick response. Emissions reduction levelg
must be science-driven, limiting environmental damage and
restricting temperature change to .1° per decade and to 1° total.
Results from the Netherlands environmental agency’s IMAGE 2|
model presented at a workshop demonstrate the need for 2010
emission limits at 19-46% below 1990 levels, with larger
reductions to be safe. The AOSIS protocol would be a first step
toward the AGBM'’s goal. It fits the safe corridor/landing concep
which seeks atmospheric GHG levels that would not cause
dangerous climate interference. A legally-binding instrument is
essential. Debate over differentiation cannot derail the process.
welcomed recognition that AGBM 3 marks the end of the analys
and assessment and that real negotiations are underway.

REPORT OF THE SESSION

Delegates considered the Chair’s draft conclusions regarding
inputs from subsidiary bodies, P&M, and QELROs. Regarding
inputs from subsidiary bodies, the conclusions note that many
Parties underlined the importance of the IPCC SAR, but others
considered it premature to draw conclusions and pointed to
scientific uncertainties. The section on P&M notes the importan
of the workshop and notes that in the context of the analysis an
assessment the AGBM considered two general orientations: a1
approach to P&M and a categorization of P&M in annexes to a

protocol according to the degree to which Annex | Parties would lagg

committed to implement them. The section also notes there wer
differing views on the need for international harmonization. On
QELROs, the AGBM underlined the interdependence between

QELROs and P&M and noted that some Parties stressed QELRQgg

as a first priority. The conclusions also note the range of options
and variations, and recognize the wide range of issues related t
equity and differentiation and the discussions on economic and
issues. The conclusions request the Secretariat to prepare, for

AGBM 4, a compilation of proposals relating to the treatment of
QELROs and P&M in a protocol or another legal instrument tab
to date or received by the Secretariat no later than 15 April 1996

The Chair convened an informal session to hear further
comments and noted the need for follow-up on workshops to fo
the Group’s work. He proposed to convene informal roundtableg
the fourth session on specific points related to QELROs and P&

and encouraged all delegates to participate. They will be designeg

to allow for further discussion on questions surrounding QELR{
such as differentiation, and P&M, such as the impact on develoj
countries. Regarding P&M, CHINA proposed adding a referenc
QELROs to note that the two concepts are integrated. The
NETHERLANDS disagreed, arguing that not every P&M aspect
linked to QELROs, and asked for flexibility.

The Chair also presented conclusions on continuing to advar
the implementation of Article 4.1. The conclusions note that the
Chair of the G-77/China referred to the position paper on
non-Annex | Parties’ initial communications. The conclusions als
contain a paragraph noting the emphasis of the G-77/China on {
issue and a paragraph noting the views of Annex | Parties on th
issue. The AGBM also noted the intention of non-Annex | Partig
to conduct a workshop, as a follow-up to the earlier one, to addn

Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 9

communications from non-Annex | Parties, the implementation of
their existing commitments in Article 4.1 had been sufficiently
&slyanced. He also proposed that the relationship between the
ecommitments of non-Annex | Parties and the provision of financial
sresources and transfer of technology must be taken into full
eaccount. Delegates accepted the paragraph as amended. The
i G-77/China also proposed that the AGBM note the agreement in
the SBSTA and SBI that their position paper would be the principal
basis to adopt and implement the guidelines and format. The US
said there should be no implication that the AGBM will decide on
these guidelines because that is the SBSTA’s work.

On possible features of a protocol or another legal instrument,
the conclusions note that the AGBM agreed on the need to avoid
the proliferation of new bodies. It stressed the importance of
institutional economy in this regard. The conclusions note the
comments of the Parties:

» Several Parties queried the need for the establishment of a
She separate Conference of the Parties and a separate Bureau in a
is protocol regime.

» Many Parties stated that only a legally-binding instrument
would meet the requirements of the BM, while others reminded
the group that the focus was to strengthen commitments.
Many Parties stated their preference for a protocol, while other
stressed the importance of awaiting further developments.
Several delegations stressed the importance of the
communications and review of information in an amendment or
protocol regime.

L€  The G-77/China requested a reference to “Convention

0 provisions” when listing the items that the AGBM had stressed in

Nefder to emphasize the link between the Convention and any
possible protocol. SAMOA proposed changing a sentence that

ted “Many Parties” agreed that only a legally-binding instrument

Ewould meet the requirements of the BM, to “The AGBM agreed”
but KUWAIT objected. Delegates also debated a reference that
states AGBM noted some Parties said an amendment might be a

re viable option, considering the lack of consensus on the rules

of procedure. INDIA, KUWAIT, CHILE and CHINA objected to a
Dreference to the need for information “in evolving commitments for
CaftParties.” CANADA and the US called for its retention.

The Chair then convened a formal session to adopt the report of
the meeting (FCCC/AGBM/1996/L.1). In a paragraph noting the
e&atement of the IPCC Chair, the last sentence says that he
‘concluded by stating that the economies of all countries could

benefit from the implementation of policies and measures to
FWRitigate climate change. CHINA asked if this was fair and
5 Adquested its deletion. The Chair said this was an accurate
Meflection of the statement and he would not accept “censorship.”
ENEZUELA and KUWAIT requested that the record reflect their
Sseservations on the same issue. The group adopted the report.

bing
A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF AGBM 3

b to
is Those who view intergovernmental negotiations as a dance
might say that a veil or two dropped at the third meeting ofithe
ndgoc Group on the Berlin Mandate. Having sashayed gently around
key issues for two meetings, delegates finally spoke their minds.
Revealed were a new proposal from Germany on specific
s@emissions reductions targets, Japan’s recommendation to
hilgcorporate joint implementation officially in future commitments,
sand even unabashed insistence from Canada and the US that all
sParties should eventually take on new commitments. AGBM 3 may
egyentually be remembered as the week that this round of climate

issues relating to implementation, and requested the Secretariat @hange negotiations became explicit.

facilitate assistance in this regard.

COSTA RICA, on behalf of the G-77/China, proposed a new
paragraph that states: Many Parties stressed that by formally
presenting the G-77/China position paper on initial

AGBM leaders set an aggressive tone from the start of the
session. Chair Raul Estrada Oyuela declared that he would not
tolerate obstruction from delegates who had tried to slow
negotiations before. His determination appeared to be matched by




Vol. 12 No. 27 Page 10

support from the floor, as friends of the Chair were ready to
respond when oil producing countries or others called for delayi
or diverting AGBM decisions. Executive Secretary Michael
Zammit-Cutajar helped to define the determined mood by
presenting a vision of a long-term shift of emissions from
developed to developing countries, while still seeking climate
stabilization. His broad notion of resource transfer and cooperat
placed the consideration of new commitments in a more essent
sustainable development context than more typical debate over,
purely financial transfers from developed to developing countrig|
It also touched the heart and greatest challenge of negotiations
whether over 150 countries could come to a common view of
political, industrial and social change required to achieve
sustainable climate policy.

Delegates and observers attributed at least part of the meetir
added inspiration to the results of the IPCC Second Assessmer
Report, which was adopted in December. The projections of rap
change, adverse impacts and stronger attribution to “discernible
human influence” seemed to put the consideration of new
commitments into an accelerated rhythm.

In addition to the specific proposals, a number of general
concepts gained attention at AGBM 3, including flexibility,
differential criteria and indicators, equity and trade. Introduced b
the US and others at AGBM 2, flexibility featured in numerous
Annex | countries’ presentations as a prerequisite to new
commitments. Germany and the Russian Federation prefer to
reserve flexibility for countries with economies in transition, but
many others appear to want to apply the idea more widely to the
timing, location and, possibly, type of steps a country might take
reduce GHG emissions. Where developed countries questioned
G-77/China’s desire at the subsidiary bodies meetings to build
flexibility into their reporting proposals, the tables turned as Ann
| countries sought to incorporate flexibility into their own
commitments at AGBM 3. AOSIS was among the few voices
criticizing the impact of flexibility, saying it could compromise
commitments to emission reductions. Malaysia also criticized
flexibility, but at the same time positively presented ideas on
indicators for equitable sharing, another idea Annex | countries
were promoting related to differential commitments.

Several ideas were floated that would divide shared
commitments among Annex | countries based on GDP or other
economic indicators, emissions and other factors. Germany was

Monday, 11 March 1996

did not seem as adamant that such study precede or prevent other
nectivities.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR BEFORE COP-2

CONFERENCES ON ACTIVITIES IMPLEMENTED
icDINTLY (AlJ): Regional Conference on Joint Implementation:
af;ountries in TransitionThis Conference will be held from 17-19
April 1996 in the Hotel Ambassador, Vaclavské, nam 5-7, 111 24
sPrague, Czech Republic and is sponsored by the UNEP Regional
Office for Europe, the governments of the Netherlands and
Norway. The Conference is organized under the auspices of the
Ministry of the Environment of the Czech Republic. Further
information is available from SEVEN, Mr. Milo$ Tichy, P.O. Box
gag, 120 56 Prague 2, Czech Republic, tel: +42 2 2424 7552; fax:
1742 2 2424 7597; email: seven@earn.cvut.cz. Information is also
i@vailable on the Internet at http://www.org.ji.

UNEP Conference on Activities Implemented Jointly under the
UNFCCC: Structuring Opportunities for Building Consensus and
Promoting International Cooperatioffhe Conference is being
organized by the UNEP and the World Foundation for
Environment and Development (WFED) and will be held 20-24
yMay 1996 at the Herradura International Conference Center, San

Jose, Costa Rica. For more information contact: UNEP Conference
on AlJ, c/o WFED, 1101 30th Street, NW-Suite 500, Washington,
DC 20007 USA. Fax: +1-202-686-3771.

IPCC WORKSHOPS: The IPCC will convene three
workshops for the further development of the Guidelines for
t§ational GHG Inventories on the following topics: sources and
tieenoval by sinks of greenhouse gases from land use and forestry
(Sao José dos Campos, Sao Paulo, 21-22 March 1996); emissions
eftom fuel combustion and industrial processes (Abingdon, UK,
29-30 March 1996); and, methane emissions from rice cultivation
(Bangkok, Thailand, 30 April - 2 May 1996). The results will be
incorporated as additions and/or revisions to the guidelines, and
approved at IPCC-12, scheduled for the week of 9 September 1996
in Mexico. For more information contact: IPCC Secretariat, WMO,
41 Av. Giuseppe-Motta, C.P. N° 2300, 1211 Geneva 2 Switzerland,
tel: +41 22 7308 215/254/284, fax: +41 22 7331 270 OMM CH,
e-mail: narasimhan.sundararaman@itu.ch.

REGIONAL WORKSHOPS: A Workshop on Climate
5 &hange Vulnerability and Adaptation in Latin America will take

rare Annex | critic of differential targets, suggesting that generatjirgjace in Montevideo, Uruguay, from 22-24 April 1996. The

indicators would be impractical. Proponents argued that differer
or shared targets would enhance fairness and equity among thg
responsible for emissions. Like the debate on flexibility, the key

tiabrkshop is sponsored by the US Country Studies Program
sdJSCSP), the Comision Nacional sobre el Cambio Global and the
Inter-American Institute for Global Change Research (invited). For

questions are whether differential, shared targets can enhance th@ore information contact: Annie Hareau or Cecilia Ramos-Mafie,

effectiveness of possible new commitments in reducing possibl
climate change and adverse impacts, how they would be negoti
and whether they provide suitable accountability. The emphasis
equity, combined with frequent calls for cost-effectiveness, coul
lay a complex set of economic considerations across the
negotiators’ path to new commitments.

The other challenge introduced at AGBM 3 was the trade imf
of potential policies and measures. Recent negotiations in the W
Committee on Trade and Environment reportedly bogged down
over conflicting views on how trade negotiators preferred to
address trade measures in multilateral environmental agreemer
Similar concerns over market access, eco-labeling and barriers
trade were raised for the first time at the AGBM by a range of
countries, including those who have been least eager to take ng
measures against climate change.

Notably missing from AGBM 3 were sustained debates over
need for, extent and timing of analysis and assessment. Perhap
Chair’s initial warning that delegates should be willing to comple
analytical work and move toward decisions took hold. Whatever

p Comision Nacional sobre el Cambio Global, Cuidadela 1414, Piso

afdsdviontevideo 11100, Uruguay, Tel/Fax: +598-2 932088 or

drel/Fax: +598-2 922416, e-mail: iaiuy@attmail.com; or

d Christopher B. Bordeaux or Jack Fitzgerald , USCSP, 1000

Independence Ave., SW, PO-63, Washington, DC 20585, USA, tel:

+1-202 426-1637, fax: +1-202 426-1551, e-mail:

ha@ordeaux@igc.apc.org or jfitzgerald@igc.apc.org.

YTOTHE SECOND MEETING OF THE CONFERENCE OF

THE PARTIES: COP-2 will be held 8-19 July 1996 in Geneva.

The session will open in plenary the first day, then suspend the

ntglenary until Wednesday, 17 July to allow for the sessions of the

tdour subsidiary bodies (AGBM, SBSTA, SBI and AG13) to take
place. The subsidiary bodies will provide inputs, including draft

vdecisions, for the various items on the COP-2 agenda. The plenary
will reconvene to conclude negotiations and adopt decisions on
hi/-19 July.

s the

te

ment

the cause, those countries emphasizing socioeconomic assess



